For personal communication only

Zhuang Wang, Wei Wei, Yanfei Shen, Songqin Liu and Yuanjian Zhang*, "Carbon Nitride-Based Biosensors", Chapter 4, in Biochemical Sensors: Nanomaterial-Based Biosensing and Application (Edited by Prof. Huangxian Ju and Prof. Jinghong Li), World Scientific 2021, DOI: 10.1142/9789811238055_0004

Chapter 8

Carbon Nitride-Based Biosensors

Zhuang Wang, Wei Wei, Yanfei Shen, Songqin Liu, Yuanjian Zhang*

Jiangsu Engineering Laboratory of Smart Carbon-Rich Materials and Device, Jiangsu Province Hi-Tech Key Laboratory for Bio-Medical Research, School of Chemistry and Chemical Engineering, Medical School, Southeast University, Nanjing 211189, China.

*Yuanjian.Zhang@seu.edu.cn (Y Zhang)

Polymeric carbon nitride (CN), as a kind of promising two-dimensional conjugated matter exhibited outstanding photovoltaic effects. Recently, CN has also drawn increasing attention in constructing biosensors owing to its appealing properties such as responsive to visible light, facile synthesis from inexpensive raw materials with modulable electronic structures, remarkable thermal and physicochemical stability, abundant functional groups on the surface, and excellent photoelectrochemical features. This chapter introduces the synthesis as well as structure engineering of CN materials and further summarizes the advantages of CN in biosensing application. It is shown that plenty of efforts have been devoted to optimize the solubility, signal conversion efficiency, active surfaces/sites that interact with biomolecules of CN materials, making CN more attractive for biosensing application. As a metal-free semiconductor with a narrow band gap, CN owns outstanding optical properties (photoluminescence and chemiluminescence) and the photoelectric conversion ability (electrochemiluminescence and photoelectrochemistry), which contributes to multiple signal output modes and various biosensors designing. Interestingly, beyond the conventional configurations and sensing mechanisms, a few very recent examples taking advantage of unique properties of CN are introduced in the last part in order to further outlook the bright future of CN materials in biosensing application.

Contents

- 1. Introduction
 - 1.1. History of Carbon Nitride
 - 1.2. Appealing Properties of Carbon Nitride
 - 1.3. Opportunities for Biosensors by Using of Carbon Nitride
- 2. Synthesis of Carbon Nitride
 - 2.1. Engineering of Molecular Structures
 - 2.1.1. Chemical Doping
 - 2.1.2. Defects
 - 2.1.3. Topological Structure
 - 2.2. Engineering of Micro/Nanostructures
 - 2.2.1. Nanosheets
 - 2.2.2. Dots
- 3. Signal Conversion of Carbon Nitride
 - 3.1. Photoluminescence
 - 3.2. Photoelectrochemistry
 - 3.3. Electrochemiluminescence
- 4. Interface Optimization with Biomolecules
- 5. Typical Examples of Carbon Nitride-Based Biosensors
 - 5.1. Photoluminescent Biosensing
 - 5.2. Photoelectrochemical Biosensing
 - 5.3. Electrochemiluminescent Biosensing
- 6. Outlook

References

1. Introduction

1.1 History of Carbon Nitride

Carbon nitride (CN), one of the oldest reported synthetic polymers was first found in 1834 by Berzelius and named by Liebig as "melon" afterwards.¹⁻³ As research continues, it was predicted that CN could be divided into five different phases: α -C₃N₄, β -C₃N₄, cubic C₃N₄, pseudocubic C₃N₄ and graphitic C₃N₄ (g-C₃N₄).⁴⁻⁵ Among all phases mentioned above, g-C₃N₄ with a layered structure analogous to graphite was proved to be the most stable allotrope under ambient conditions^{3, 6},

which accounts for tremendous attention on it. It was found that the aromatic planes constructed from triazine or tris-s-triazine units are stacked by weak van der Waals' forces. Nonetheless, instead of accurate C_3N_4 stoichiometry, most of real g- C_3N_4 is a defect-rich N-bridged "poly(tri-*s*-triazine)/poly(triazine)" due to the incomplete de-amination or polymerization of the nitrogen containing precursors.⁷ In the past few years, CN has experienced an explosion of interest due to its unique properties and facile structural manipulation in a diverse range of fields from photocatalysis to emerging biosensing, solar cells, nanoarchitecture processes and nonvolatile memory devices.⁸⁻¹⁴ Especially, both the semiconductor-driven properties and electron donating-driven property of CN materials arouse a variety of sensing applications which tend to be introduced in this chapter.

1.2 Appealing Properties of Carbon Nitride

As mentioned above, CN materials possess many outstanding properties. Initially, CN is a class of polymetric materials mainly composed of earthabundant carbon and nitrogen elements, which means its inexpensive raw materials can be easily obtained. It also facilitates handling and disposal that CN does not contain any heavy metal ion. Moreover, the remarkable thermal and physicochemical stability of CN materials, especially g-C₃N₄ pave the way for practical applications. Specifically, the result of the thermal gravimetric analysis (TGA) demonstrated that g-C₃N₄ kept intact and non-volatile even at 600°C in the air. It eventually decomposed until the temperature reached 700°C.² In addition to its excellent thermal stability, g-C₃N₄ has also been proved to be stable under critical chemical conditions like acid, base or organic solvents.¹⁵ Moreover, g-C₃N₄ possess an appealing electronic structure to be a medium-bandgap semiconductor benefiting from its conjugated polymeric network.¹⁶ This feature hence made it widely applied in the fields related to sustainable energy such as photocatalysis and photoelectric conversion, as well as other important catalytic reactions.¹⁷⁻²¹ Afterwards, CN started to participate in constructing ingenious sensors owing to these semiconductor-driven properties including photoluminescence (PL), chemiluminescence (CL), electrochemiluminescence (ECL), and photoelectrochemistry (PEC) as

illustrated in Fig. 1.^{11, 22-27} As for the latter two mechanisms, the outstanding conversion capacity between light and electricity extremely enhance the sensitivity of $g-C_3N_4$ based sensors. Simultaneously, some colorimetric sensors has been successfully constructed on the basis of unique catalytic properties of $g-C_3N_4$.²⁸⁻³¹ Except for inherent properties above, the structure of CN is easy to be modulated at the molecular level for different optoelectronic properties by virtue of its moderate reactivity at the interface, together with the aromatic, π -conjugated framework and intralayer hydrogen bond. In principle, any desired molecules, elements and functional groups can be inserted into the final CN through reasonable designing strategy of molecular structures, thus intrinsically improving the fundamental properties of these CN materials aiming for task-specific applications.³² Owing to all these appealing properties, tremendous effort has been done to make full use of CN in various fields.

1.3 Opportunities for Biosensors by Using of Carbon Nitride

Recently, carbon nitride has gradually exhibited the enormous potential in biosensing, which is closely related to its outstanding properties. Firstly, the detection processes may be done in complicated environments. Hence, there is no doubt that the stability is a vital factor for an excellent biosensor. CN exactly possess the high thermal and chemical stability. The most stable allotrope of the CN family, g-C₃N₄ has been demonstrated to be unchanged even at 600°C in the air and some critical chemical conditions, which make it possible to construct fairly stable biosensors when facing practical and complex samples. And CN is mainly composed of earth abundant and inexpensive elements which also contribute to the low toxicity and biocompatibility. Furthermore, as a metal-free semiconductor with a narrow band gap, CN owns unique optical properties (photoluminescence, chemiluminescence) and the photoelectric conversion capacity (electrochemiluminescence and photoelectrochemistry), which can offer multifarious possibilities for biosensing designs. In particular, different form the traditional photoluminescence, both ECL and PEC can effectively avoid the disturbance from input signals by taking advantage of the conversion between electricity and light. It indeed boosted the sensitivity of

biosensors to adopt different forms of input and output signals. More importantly, one of the most attractive merits of CN is the facile modulation of molecular structures and optoelectronic properties due to its organic nature. Thus, the engineering of CN molecular structures not only optimizes the properties of CN according to specific requirements but also extremely enhances the flexibility of CN based biosensors.



Figure. 1. Sensing mechanisms using CN. A) Photoluminescent emission generated by rapid recombination of the photoinduced electrons and holes. B) Anodic or cathodic photocurrent produced by light illumination in the presence of solution-solubilized electron donors or acceptors, respectively. C) Anodic or cathodic electrochemiluminescence generated by electrochemical injection of electrons or holes in the presence of oxidative or reductive coreactants, respectively. D) Chemiluminescence produced upon injection of electrons or holes from chemical species.³³

2 Synthesis of Carbon Nitride

2.1 Engineering of Molecular Structures

2.1.1 Chemical Doping

Generally, inserting external impurities into semiconductors can effectively modulate their electronic structures for the manipulation of conductive, optical, luminescent, magnetic, or other physical properties, which refers to doping. As a metal-free polymeric semiconductor, CN can also be chemically doped to improve the properties. To date, a serious of atoms including B³⁴⁻³⁵, C³⁶⁻³⁷, O³⁸⁻³⁹, F⁴⁰, P⁴¹⁻⁴², S⁴³, Br⁴⁴ and I⁴⁵ as well as some combinations⁴⁶⁻⁴⁷ between them have been successfully incorporated into the framework of CN (Fig. 2A). The introduction of heteroatoms can induce the change of the electronic structure of CN.

Among these atoms, P, as a typical doping atom has been verified to effectively enhance and properly modulate the performance of CN in various applications including photoelectrochemistry⁴⁸, photocatalysis⁴² and bioimaging⁴⁹. For instance, it was firstly reported by our group that phosphorus atoms most probably replaced the corner or bay carbon in the structure to form P-N bonding in the doped CN framework.⁴⁸ The doped heteroatoms, P did remarkably change the electronic structure of CN, leading to a fairly broad light absorption covering almost full-range spectra. Therefore, P-doped CN showed not only a significant increase in electrical conductivity by up to 4 orders of magnitude, but also an improvement in photocurrent generation by a factor of up to 5. In fact, all of these outstanding features after doping made it possible for CN to construct more sensitive biosensors with intense signal feedback. Another typical doping heteroatom, S can also effectively modulate the properties of CN. For instance, our group has reported that the optical properties of CNNS can be facilely engineered by S atom doping, where the 2-aminothiophene-3-carbonitrile was used as a dopant in copolymerization with bulk CN to prepare the S-CNNS with a red-shift PL and ECL emission peak reaching 531nm.¹² Furthermore, to make full use of the adjustable emission wavelength of S-doped CN, our group continued to construct a wavelength-resolved ECL biosensor for the simultaneous detection of multiple biomarkers at a single-electrode interface.⁵⁰ By virtue of doping modulation, CNNS were explored as metal-free mono chromatic luminophores with different emission wavelengths but the same coregent and excitation potential, which could enrich the sorts of biocompatible monochromatic ECL luminophores for multiple biomarker detection.

Other than the altering of wavelength, Ma and co-workers has demonstrated that the S doping can effectively change the surface states of CNQDs and produced new element vacancy, which ultimately enhanced the ECL efficiency by 2.5 times and benefit for the sensitivity of the gene detection.⁵¹ In addition to heteroatom doping mentioned above, Zhang and co-workers found that carbon self-doping to substitute the bridging N atoms could form delocalized p bonds among the doped C atoms and aromatic heterocycles, which is beneficial for electron transfer and also results in decreasing the bandgap.³⁶ Thus, doping is serving as an effective and facile approach to improve and modulate the features of CN materials and broaden their application prospect in biosensing.

2.1.2. Defects

Defects modulation usually has great influence on the electronic structures of semiconductors. In general, the intrinsic nitrogen defects in CN might have a remarkable impact on its optoelectronic properties and band gap structure. The nitrogen defect engineering for CN materials has aroused tremendous interests in recent years to improve the desirable features in various applications. It was demonstrated that the introduction of N defects into CN networks would cause a change of local coordination environment, which could alter local electron distribution and extend the p-electron delocalization.52 Hence the introduction of N defects into the CN framework was also shown to significantly improve the performance of CN. For example, Zhang and co-workers described a novel route to prepare nitrogen defective CN via adding an alkali compound during the thermal polymerization of urea or other nitrogen-rich precursors (Fig. 2B). Two types of nitrogen defects, cyano groups in the bulk and surface N vacancies, were selectively introduced. Both experimental and theoretical results indicated that the introduction of nitrogen defects not only redshifted the CN absorption edge, but also separated photoexcited charge carries more efficiently. Therefore, the as-prepared CN displayed superior photocatalytic photoelectrochemical and hydrogen evolution performance.⁵³ There is no doubt that the participation of defects tends to enhance the sensitivity of CN based biosensors and improve the performance of CN in biosensing.



Figure. 2. Engineering of CN molecular structures via doping and defects. A) Representative molecular motif of doped CN. Copied with permission³² B) Structure fragments of CN and CN with N defects as well as corresponding calculated band structures and partial density of states.⁵³

2.1.3 Topological Structure

In addition to the structural engineering by doping or defects introduction, it is also envisioned to engineer the physical/ chemical properties of CN by constructing unique topological structures that are closely relevant to molecular orbitals and electronic band structures. According to the different ratios of C and N atoms in the CN framework, a series of novel C_xN_y materials with different prosperous topologies and stoichiometries have been predicted and/or synthesized, which further triggers extensive investigations of broad applications ranging from sustainable photocatalytic reactions and highly sensitive optoelectronic biosensing.⁵⁴ Hence, the modification in the molecular structure of most reported C_3N_4 has aroused tremendous attention. For instance, Kumar and co-workers have successfully synthesized a novel carbon nitride framework named C₃N₅ through the thermal deammoniation reaction. The monomer melem hydrazine obtained by the pre-reaction of the precursor melem and hydrazine, resulting in a new bridging azo linkage (-C=C-). It ultimately turned out to be that the overlap of tri-s-triazine heptazine cores and -C=C- linkages increased the electron density, leading to the extended conjugation and the reduction of bandgap to 1.76 eV.⁵⁵ Another facile way to modifying CN is to change the repeating units. Vinu and co-workers have prepared a different topological C₃N₅ with the repeating unit with two six-membered ring triazines and one five-membered ring triazole, which is easy to synthesize through the self-assembly of the precursor, 5-amino-1H-tetrazole (5-ATTZ).⁵⁶ Compared with bulk g-C₃N₄, the as-prepared C_3N_5 exhibited higher redox reaction activity and diffusion current density. What is more, C₄N₃ with the bridging groups changed from N atom to C atom was prepared by Zhou and co-workers.⁵⁷ It owned more dangling bonds and exhibited much improved optical absorption possibly on account of some unoccupied electrons in the bridging C atoms. Owing to the effective $n \rightarrow p^*$ transition in most $C_x N_y$ materials, the relative energy level of the lone-pair electrons on N atoms is high. Thus, they are generally equipped with the capability of visible light absorption, which contribute to the sensitive in vivo biosensing. Meanwhile, the different repeating units, bridging groups and defect sites of these two kinds of C_xN_y allow them to effectively drive a diverse of promising applications that require specific electronic, interfacial and geometric properties.

Apart from the six-membered rings, our group has synthesized a fivemembered aromatic ring-based C_3N_2 material by using the zeolite imidazole framework. The asymmetric five-membered rings and the rich dangling bonds in the condensed framework endow much lower first excitation energy of 0.8 eV, enabling the first successful PEC biosensing for the untransparent biological samples using near IR lights. More interestingly, by employing first-principles calculations, the structural, electronic and magnetic properties of various two-dimensional NC were reported by Bafekry and co-workers. The different predicted CN gives rise to diverse electronic properties such as metals (C_3N_2), semimetals (C_4N and C_9N_4), half-metals (C_4N_3), ferromagnetic-metals (C_9N_7), semiconductors (C_2N , C_3N , C_3N_4 , C_6N_6 , and C_6N_8), spin-glass semiconductors ($C_{10}N_9$ and $C_{14}N_{12}$), and insulators (C_2N_2). A series of prosperous topological structures bring infinite possibilities, which can not only be applied to the PEC, ECL or PL, but also has a wide space in magnetic resonance imaging in *vivo*.

2.2 Engineering of Micro/Nanostructures

2.2.1 Nanosheets

Currently, the bulk CN can already be facilely prepared at large scale and low cost. A variety of methods has been established for that such as solvothermal synthesis⁵⁸, solid-state reactions⁵⁹, electrodeposition⁶⁰ and thermal decomposition⁶¹, among which the thermal decomposition is most frequently used to synthesize bulk CN utilizing various precursors. Prepared by solid-state synthesis at high temperatures, pristine CN is a typical bulky material with low dispersity in most solvents and surface area. Nevertheless, sensitive biosensors with a fast kinetic response often desire large surface area, an abundance of active sites and high water dispersity.³³ And thus, pristine CN is not regarded as an ideal candidate for biosensing applications. To overcome these obstacles in practical applications, numerous approaches has emerged to tailor the bulk CN into various micro/nanostructures with high water dispersity and surface area as well as unique properties so as to improve its biosensing capabilities.

As the name suggests, graphitic C_3N_4 possesses the similar layer structure of graphite. Inspired by the success of graphene exfoliated from bulk graphite, it is thought to be possible to prepare CN nanosheets (CNNS) by exfoliating bulk g- C_3N_4 several pioneering works have been reported to realize that in different ways including liquid exfoliation⁶² and thermal oxidation⁶³. The ultrathin two-dimensional CNNSs not only reserve the merits of bulk CN such as excellent stability and biocompatibility but also exhibit unique optoelectronic properties as well as better water solubility and higher surface area than bulk CN. Thus, a more intimate interaction can be constructed between guest molecules and CN materials, which has drawn tremendous interests for biosensing.

However, the efficiency of thermal oxidation turned out to be relatively low, where the hydrogen bonds among layers were destroyed through oxidizing by air. Similarly, a typical liquid exfoliation cost a long sonication time up to ~16 h to obtain CNNS with a low concentration of ~0.15 mg/mL (Fig. 3A).⁶² To solve this issue, Qiao and co-workers prepared CNNS by virtue of the sonication-exfoliation of bulk g-C₃N₄ under an acid condition, which reduced the exfoliation time to 2 hours and altered the negatively charged $g-C_3N_4$ to be positive by protonating the bulk g-C₃N₄ surface with HCl.⁶⁴ Other than the low efficiency, the poor dispersion of CN in most solvents makes it hard to tailor. Also, it is fairly difficulty to form a robust linkage between guest molecules and the chemically inert pristine CNNS. For this reason, our group have developed a facile approach to simultaneously modify and exfoliate bulk CN with aromatic molecules via the facile mechanical grinding as illustrated in Fig. 3B. The obtained CNNSs not only retained the pristine optoelectronic properties of bulk CN but also enriched a friendly interface for further coupling biomolecules.⁶⁵ Obviously, the appearance of CNNS inherits unique properties but simultaneously remedies some disadvantages of bulk CN, which broaden the application range of CN materials in biosensing.



Figure. 3. Engineering of CN nanostructures. A) Liquid-exfoliation process from bulk CN to ultrathin nanosheets.⁶² B) Mechanical grinding simultaneous exfoliation and modification process of bulk CN into nanosheets.⁶⁵ C) Chemical tailoring of CN into quantum dots in acidic aqueous solution.¹¹

2.2.2 Dots

Fluorescent semiconductor quantum dots (QDs) with unique tunable optical and electronic properties as well as good stability have been applied in various fields including biomedicine, solar cells, optical devices, sensing and so on. And various types of semiconductor ODs with different photoluminescence emission were already developed, for instance: CdS/Se, PbS/Se, ZnS/Se, AgS/Se, etc.⁶⁶ Although these metal-based QDs indeed overcome some adequacies of traditional organic dves such as low photo stability and high photobleaching, their applications in biosensing are still hindered by some shortcomings including complicated synthesis pathways, high preparation cost, poor solubility in water and especially high toxicity to the organism. As a kind of metal-free quantum dots, carbon-based QDs have drawn increasing attention and been regarded as promising candidates for biosensing owing to their outstanding features. Compared with metal-based QDs, carbon-based QDs remain the excellent optical properties and meanwhile manifest facile synthesis, nontoxicity and good biocompatibility.⁶⁷ As mentioned above, CN materials has exhibit enormous potential in biosensing. Nevertheless, the practical applications of CN were actually confined due to the poor dispersibility and broad size distribution. Hence, great efforts have been made to prepare homogeneous carbon nitride quantum dots (CNQDs) which are more appropriate for biosensing. Generally, the synthesis approaches of CNQDs can be divided into two categories: top-down synthesis and bottom-up synthesis. As for the top-down strategy, bulk CN should be initially prepared and subsequently cut into nanosized CNQDs by means of various manipulations including chemical oxidation⁶⁸, ultrasonication⁶⁹, chemical $3C)^{11}$, hydrothermal treatment⁷⁰, electrochemical tailoring (Fig. oxidation³¹ and hot-tailoring⁷¹. Different from the top-down strategy with multiple processes, the bottom-up synthesis aims to prepare CNQDs through self-assembly and polymerization of small nitrogen-rich organic molecules just in one step. Typical bottom-up methods include hydrothermal method^{23, 72}, solvothermal method⁷³ and solid-phase method⁷⁴. Although different synthesis methods lead to CNQDs with different features, CNQDs generally show some common merits such as small size distribution, excellent water solubility, nontoxicity and good biocompatibility, which are more beneficial to biosensing applications than bulk CN. CNQDs also remain the outstanding stability in critical

chemical and physical conditions by virtue of the tri-s-triazine structural unit. Moreover, superior to carbon-based QDs, CNQDs exhibit expanded emission spectral range, high quantum yield and explicit mechanism.⁶⁶ Given all of excellent features of CNQDs above, it has been regarded as a promising optical probes for optical biosensing.

3. Signal Conversion of Carbon Nitride

3.1 Photoluminescence

Serving as a metal-free semiconductor, CN materials can output various signals in biosensing via producing electron–hole pairs in conduction band (CB) and valence band (VB) respectively through some external excitation and subsequently modulating their fluxion and recombination rate. Initially, bulk CN materials have exhibited unique photoluminescence properties as most typical semiconductors did. Generally, once illuminated by photons with sufficient high energy, electrons of CN tend to rise from the VB to the CB, leading to an equal number of holes. After the rapid recombination of these electron–hole pairs, the luminescence with specific wavelength can be emitted.

Based on the flexible and adjustable molecular structure and nanostructure of CN materials, the PL features of CN can be facilely modulated through the degree of polymerization, morphology modification or the construction of nanocomposites. It has been demonstrated that the degree of polymerization during the condensation of precursors could obviously distinctly alter the emission wavelengths. Specifically, the pure melem gives a PL peak around 366 nm. Once condensed to bulk CN materials at 450 °C for 1 hour, the PL peak was redshift to about 435nm.⁷¹ When the condensation temperature rise to 550 °C for 4 h leading to a higher degree of condensation, the PL peak would further red-shift to 480nm due to the transition from a lone pair of nitrogen atoms to a π^* conduction band. However, the PL peak was blue-shifted when precursors was heated at 600 °C, which was likely to alter the electronic coupling between the layers.²

As mentioned in the second part, bulk CN materials are often tailored to nanosized structures in the practical biosensing applications for the sake of improving water solubility, surface area and other desired properties. Compared with bulk CN, CNNS generally exhibit a stable and blue-shifted PL emission ($\lambda_{max} \sim 440$ nm) and higher PL quantum yield (19.6 %) (Fig. 4A and 4B).⁷⁵ Due to the quantum size effect, the wider bad gap of CNNS account for the blue-shifted PL. And the enhanced PL intensity of CNNS is reduced by defects and termination sites in the nanoscaled CN, which promotes the delocalization of electrons and thus contribute to the recombination of photogenerated electron-hole pairs.⁶³ Moreover, CNNS were reported to exhibit excellent two-photon PL emission at 438nm when irradiated by near-infrared light ($\lambda_{ex} = 760$ nm) with a large two-photon absorption cross section and extremely weak photo-bleaching (Fig. 4C).⁷⁶ It was verified that CNQDs could also emit bright green PL emission via simultaneously absorbing two near-infrared photons.⁶⁹ By taking advantages of two-photon PL emission, nanosized structures of CN can be further implied in in-depth imaging and in vivo biosensing due to the excitation of near-infrared excellent permeability and good biocompatibility. As for CNQDs, another vital nanostructure of CN has emerged as outstanding fluorescent tags due to their unique optical features such as high PL quantum yield and unambiguous PL emission mechanism. Similar to the CNNSs, CNQDs generally showed a blueshifted PL on account of the quantum size effect. Nonetheless, our group reported a sort of CNQDs with an abnormal redshifted PL emission by means of a facile hot-tailoring top-down fabrication method as shown in Fig. 4D.⁷¹ This phenomenon could be explained by the improved C/N ratio and functionalized oxygen-containing groups in the liquid-collection stage. The tunable PL emission tends to further broaden the biosensing applications of CNQDs.



Figure. 4. Photoluminescent properties of CN in various forms. A) UV-visible absorption spectra. B) Normalized photoluminescence spectra of bulk g-C₃N₄ and CN nanosheets.⁶² C) Two-photon photoluminescence emission of CN nanosheets.⁷⁶ D) Red-shifted photoluminescence spectra of hot-tailoring CN quantum dots.⁷¹

3.2 Photoelectrochemistry

With the development of innovative semiconductor-based photoactive materials, photoelectrochemistry (PEC) has aroused increasing interests in biosensing, as it simultaneously couples the merits of optical and electrochemical techniques. The signal conversion from light to electricity endows PEC biosensing with low undesired background and high sensitivity. As a kind of typical metal-free semi-conductor, CN with a highly delocalized π -conjugated system has emerged as a promising and novel transducer for PEC biosensing. In early studies, our group investigated the fundamental PEC properties of CN (Fig. 5A).⁷⁷⁻⁷⁸ Generally, CN serves as a semiconductor electrode immerging in the electrolyte containing electron donors or acceptors. Upon the illumination of light, charges separation and transfer occur in CN and consequently an

electrical signal is generated. In details, the transfer of electrons from the CB of CN to the electrode gives rise to an anodic photocurrent when the holes on the VB are consumed by electron donors solubilized in electrolyte. Conversely, a cathodic photocurrent arises due to the transfer of photo-induced electrons on the CB of CN to electron acceptors in electrolyte. Hence, sensing applications can be realized when various targets in the electrolyte modulate the separation and flow of photo-induced electrons and holes in the whole electro-circuit through redox to consequently affect the electrical signals.

Nonetheless, pristine CN materials exhibit a quite rapid recombination rate of its photo-induced electron-hole pairs, which suppresses photocurrent output to some extent. Moreover, pristine CN merely responds to UV and fairly limited visible light of wavelength shorter than 460 nm.³² It limits the application of CN in biosensing, as the shortwavelength light cannot penetrate tissues for effective in-depth biosensing and also tends to generate reactive oxygen-containing species harmful for DNA, protein and cells.⁷⁹ Thus, tremendous efforts have been made to enhance the carrier separation and charge migration, facilitate charge rectification as well as modulate CN optoelectronic properties, which thus improve the performance of CN-based PEC biosensing. It was proved that constructing composites of CN and multiple interacted substances with can effectively promote the photocurrent. Materials with high conductivity (noble metal nanoparticles and conducting polymers) are able to reserve electrons from the CB of CN, improve the interfacial electron transfer and thus enhance the photocurrent. Also, if semiconductors with a large band gap are deposited on CN nanostructures, CN can serve as an electron donor to transfer photoinduced electrons from its CB to these semiconductors, improving the charge separation as well as PEC signals.^{27, 80} CN can also accept photoinduced electrons from the CB of semiconductors with a narrow band gap, which similarly enhances the photocurrent.^{26, 81} Besides, the composition of appropriate dyes on CN can not only promote the photocurrent in the same way as typical semiconductors do, but also possibly modulate the wavelength of responsive light via D-A coupling.⁷⁹ In addition to the construction of heterojunction, another vital factor influencing the photocurrent is the contact state between CN materials and the conductive substrate. The homogenous and dense CN film with an

intimate contact with electrodes as well less boundary defects generally results in high photocurrent density and stable performances. To date, extensive efforts have been made to fabricate high-qualified CN film.⁸²⁻⁸⁴ Recently, our group developed several effective methods to enhance the photocurrent signal such as modifying CN with P doping to increase visible light irradiation⁴⁸, coupling a hole/electron-transfer layer and redox shutter species to increase the charge separation efficiency⁷⁸, controlling the morphology to enlarge the surface area and improving crystallinity to suppress unwanted charge recombination⁸⁵. Moreover, Our group proposed a versatile microwave-assisted method for preparing a highquality CN photoelectrode, which resulted in a strongly adhesive CN layer on the electrode with gradient carbon-rich texture, suppressed grain boundaries as well as excellent electron mobility, leading to the improved PEC response (Fig. 5B).⁸³ As a polymetric semiconductor, CN exhibit enormous potential in PEC biosensing on account of its excellent photonharvesting ability and unique optoelectronic properties.



Figure. 5. Photoelectrochemical properties of CN materials. A) Transient current response of ITO/rpg-C₃N₄ at different voltages.⁷⁸ B) Microwave-assisted synthetic illustration of the CN photoelectrode and enhanced transient photocurrent of microwave-assisted CN compared with bulk CN before and after adding TEOA.⁸³

3.3 Electrochemiluminescence

As the reverse process of PEC, electrochemiluminescence (ECL) has been equally regarded as an important approach for biosensing on account of its outstanding feature, including flexible design, low background emission, low cost, excellent controllability, and high sensitivity. Except for the illumination, electron-hole pairs can also be created in CN through the electrochemical injection. In general, the processes for generating ECL signals can be divided into two distinct categories. One is the annihilation ECL, where both the oxidation and reduction states of ECL-reagent are generated at single electrode with the subsequent annihilation between these two states to generate the excited state of ECL-reagent and the final ECL signal. Nonetheless, ECL of mere CN is not observed during the alternative pulsing of potential to inject holes or electrons to generate the oxidized CN⁺ and reduced CN⁺ respectively, which attributes to the poor stability of the CN⁺ in solutions. The other method is the coreactant ECL, where a coreactant was adopted to assist the generation of the exited state of ECL-reagent via the redox reaction. CN has exhibited tremendous potential ECL properties in such a coreactant way (Fig. 6A). Upon the electrochemical injection of electrons or holes into CN materials attached to the working electrode, the electron-hole annihilation via electron transfer between g-CN and redox-active coreactants results in visible light. Hence, redox-active coreactants are frequently required for the CN-based ECL measurements. As for the reduction, coreactants including dissolved O_2 , H_2O_2 , and $S_2O_8^{2-}$ can serve as hole donors and react with the reduced CN•⁻ to produce the cathodic ECL.^{24, 86} Besides, coreactants with strong reducibility like tripropylamine can also serve as electron donors and react with oxidized CN^{+} to generate the anodic ECL (Fig. 6B)⁸⁷.⁸⁷

Tremendous efforts have been made to effectively improve the ECL efficiency of CN materials, which plays a vital role in improving the sensitivity of the biosensor. Initially, modifications of CN itself by introducing an vacancy into CN could enhance the ECL efficiency.⁵¹ For instance, Wang and co-workers has introduced an vacancy into the Eudoped CN, in which the O vacancy accelerated the energy transport between the catalyst and ECL reagents.⁸⁸ Moreover, to construct composites of CN and other conductive materials is regarded as an effective approach for the enhancement of ECL efficiency of CN. On the

one hand, it can promote the electrode interfacial electron transfer and weaken the CN passivation induced by electrons with high energy. A variety of materials has been reported to enhance the ECL in this way such as: gold nanoparticles (Fig. 6C)⁸⁹⁻⁹⁰, platinum⁹¹, Galinstan liquid metal²⁵, titanium carbide MXene (Fig. 6D)⁹² and so on. On the other hand, the assembly of CN onto other materials with high surface area can realize more load of CN and thus enhance the ECL signal.⁹²⁻⁹³ In addition to the modification of ECL reagents, the participation of catalytic materials in the substrates or composites can also promote the ECL efficiency by virtue of accelerating the whole ECL reaction⁸⁸ or generating more coreactants⁹³. And the substrates can likewise modulate the ECL efficiency, which could enhance the electroconductivity catalyze the generation of coreactants or increase the load of ECL reagents.⁹⁴ Notably, apart from the heterogeneous composites, the ECL efficiency is also intimately related to the quality of CN materials prepared on the electrodes. For instance, the high-quality CN photoelectrode made by the microwave-assisted method which was reported by our group realized a record-level cathodic efficiency of ECL.83



Figure. 6. Electrochemiluminescent properties of CN materials. A) Cathodic electrogenerated chemiluminescence of CN⁹⁵ B) Anodic electrogenerated chemiluminescence of CN.⁸⁷ C) Schematic illustration of the ECL emission mechanism of the Au-CN nanocomposite with coreactant.⁸⁹ D) Enhanced ECL signals of MXene-CN nanocomposites with coreactant.⁹²

4. Interface Optimization with Biomolecules

As for an integrated biosensor, the conjugation of recognition elements or analytes themselves to CN materials is the cornerstone for subsequent designs of various signal modes and sensing mechanisms. The facile and stable interaction between biomolecules and CN materials without intense interference to their intrinsic properties makes significant sense to the sensitivity, selectivity as well as stability of biosensors. Hence, numerous efforts have been made to engineer the interface between CN and a variety of biomolecules and analytes. Initially, CN materials can themselves directly serve as recognition units by virtue of the inherent ligands such as amino groups, imino groups and nitrogen atoms. A series of metal ions have been successfully detected via CN-based sensors such as Ag⁺,⁹⁶ Cu^{2+, 22, 70} Fe^{3+, 11, 70} where their chelation with multiple function groups on the surface of CN enhanced the selectivity and stability effectively. For the sake of more recognition sites. CN can be cut down to various nanostructures to get enormous surface area as mention before. For example, Chen an co-workers has demonstrated that Ag⁺ can interact with the four-edge nitride atoms at each cavity site of CNNS and thus realized the PL sensing of Ag^{+,97} Besides, CNODs have also been reported to chelate with Fe³⁺ via hydroxyl groups and nitrogen by our groups.¹¹ In addition to the chelaiton of metal ions, amino-terminated biomolecules can be facilely conjugated to carboxylated CN nanostructures via the EDC/NHS activation.^{51, 98} For instance, Wei and co-workers have reported the covalent modification of the antibody on CNNS with carboxyl groups, typical sandwich-type biosensing for which realized the the carcinoembryonic antigen by virtue of the specific binding between the antigen and antibody.⁹⁴ Besides the intrinsic functional groups of CN, the construction of nanocomposites endows CN more chances to bind with biomolecules. Gold nanoparticles (AuNPs) have been most commonly deposited onto CN, which could be anchored to abundant N atoms in the framework of CN. Interesting, AuNPs can not only improve the conductivity of CN in PEC and ECL sensing, but also enhance the bioconjugation reliability of multiple biomolecules such as the singlehairpin probes^{24, 100}, DNA tetrahedron strand DNA⁹⁹. DNA nanostructures¹⁰¹, antibodies^{50, 89}, peptides¹⁰² and so on. Another kind of

noble metal, platinum (Pt) can also assist CN materials to covalently conjugate with amino-terminated biomolecules via the Pt-N bond.^{91, 93} In addition to metal nanoparticles, some semiconductors can also be employed for immobilization of biomolecules. For example, titanium dioxide (TiO₂) was demonstrated to conjugate both phosphate groups of peptide¹⁰³ and carboxyl groups of DNA¹⁰⁴ in the complex of TiO₂ and CN materials. And CdS quantum dots were also used to modified CNNS to realize the binding with DNA probes.¹⁰⁵ Various substances with abundant recognition sites such as β -cyclodextrin¹⁰⁶⁻¹⁰⁷ and polyethylenimine¹⁰⁸ have also been used to functionalize CN materials, offering intense and specific interaction with biomolecules. Apart from the covalent combinations, the non-covalent conjugation of CN materials has also been electrostatic through interactions^{76,} 109 hydrophobic practiced interactions⁷⁶, hydrogen bonding interactions¹⁰⁹ and π - π stacking^{80, 110}. For instance, Ju and co-workers have constructed a versatile PL sensing platform by virtue of the affinity between the single-stranded DNA and CNNSs as illustrated in Fig. 7A. Meanwhile, the affinity order of different bases was demonstrated as : Poly A > Poly C \approx Poly T due to the stronger π - π interaction of adenine with CNNS¹¹¹. However, the affinity of doublestranded DNA was fairly weak, which can be utilized to construct a variety of biosensors based on DNA aptamers. By means of electrostatic interactions, CN can be facilely conjugated to targets themselves like negatively charged heparin or dopamine^{64, 79} for the direct biosensing or other substances⁷⁶ for the indirect biosensing. Our group also developed a facile approach for modifying the interface of CNNS with aromatic molecules via mechanical grinding, which made the interface of CNNS more friendly for efficient conjugation of various biomolecules through the coupling between carboxyl groups and amino groups.⁶⁵ This kind of covalent modification was stable and specific, resulting in the better sensitivity than traditional biosensors constructed by physical adsorption of DNA (Fig. 7B).



Figure. 7. Interactions of CNNS with biomolecules A) Interaction of DNA with CNNS via π - π stacking.¹¹¹ B) Covalent binding of DNA with CNNS modified by aromatic molecules.⁶⁵

5. Typical Examples of Carbon Nitride-Based Biosensors

5.1 Photoluminescent Biosensing

As a result of the outstanding photoluminescent properties of CN, plentiful studies have successfully applied CN in biosensing to construct unique and sensitive sensors. Generally, the sensing mechanisms includes "on-off", "on-off-on" and ratiometric strategies. As for the "on-off" sensing process, CN with unique optical features and excellent biocompatibility can serve as the luminophore which intimately interacts with targets leading to the quenched photoluminescence via multiple mechanisms. First of all, the photoinduced electron transfer (PET) between nanosized CN and targets

in the corporate nanocomposites can effectively realize the quenching of CN materials. If the redox potential of the linking targets is exactly situated between the VB and CB of CN, the PL signal of nanosized CN can drop obviously due to the electrons transferring from CB of CN to the neighboring targets. Under the certain conditions, the decrease of PL of CN is closely related to the concentration of corresponding targets and hence reflects their levels. Lee and co-workers have constructed a "on-off" PL sensor for Cu²⁺ by virtue of the cubic mesoporous graphic (mpg)-CN for the first time, in which the synthesized cubic (mpg)-CN with high surface area could effectively bind to metal ions but exhibited highly selective and sensitive PL response only to Cu²⁺ without any interference by any other metal ion.²² This phenomenon was interpreted as the PET process from the cubic (mpg)-CN to Cu²⁺ after the coordination of Cu²⁺ to the inherent ligands. Similarly, a variety of metal ions have been sensitively detected based on CN in multiple nanostructures but the same PET mechanism. For example, Chen and co-workers has realized the detection of Ag⁺ using acetaldehyde-modified CNNS as the luminophore whose photoluminescent signal can be effectively and selectively quenched by Ag⁺.⁹⁷ Also, Chen and co-workers have constructed a CNNS nanofilm based sensor for the detection of Ag⁺ and Cu²⁺ in cooperation with the glutathione to distinguish these two kinds of metal ions.¹¹² It was demonstrated that abundant functional groups on the surface of CN exhibited high adsorption capacity to metal ions, especially to Ag⁺ and Cu^{2+} . More importantly, the redox potentials of these two metal ions exactly lie in the range between the VB and CB of CNNS. These two advantages made it possible to realize the PET process. In addition to CNNS, CNQDs with high PL quantum yield were also applied into the PET sensing process. Our group reported that CNQDs prepared by the chemical cleavage exhibited excellent optical properties. The PL of CNQDs distinctly declined in the presence of Fe³⁺ due to the PET process, which thus realized the selective detection of Fe³⁺ with a lower detection limit of 1µM than C-dots.11 Not merely for the detection of metal ions coordinating with CN, the PET sensing can also involve various analytes facilely attached to the surface of CN. Interestingly, Li and co-workers has introduced a sensor for tetracycline based on CN nanoseaweeds with high

selectivity.¹¹³ The photoinduced electron of CN nanoseaweeds could be trapped by the surface-interaction of tetracycline.

In general, the PET sensing of CN highly depends on two vital factors: the intimate contact of targets and nanosized CN materials and the appropriated redox potentials. The inner filter effect (IFE), as another important approach for "turn-off" sensors has also been utilized in CNbased sensing applications. For instance, our group proposed a solid-state sensor for polycylic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) based on homogeneous CNNSs distributed in the polymethyl acrylic acid.¹⁰⁷ Due to the IFE process, the intense PL signal of CNNSs could be quenched by PAHs specifically recognized by the β -cyclodextrin. Moreover, the 2,4,6trinitrophenol (TNP) has also been demonstrated to be detected when attached to CNNSs via the IFE process in a typical "on-off" model.¹⁰⁹ The intense interaction between the TNP and CNNSs including electrostatic, π - π , and hydrogen bonding interactions improved the IFE and thus enhanced the sensitivity of this sensor. Moreover, CN materials are not restricted to electron donors in the PET process. They can also serve as electron acceptors to quench the PL of other fluorophores. Ju and coworkers constructed a versatile sensing platform for DNA and Hg⁺ by virtue of the PET process from the excited fluorophores to the conductive band of CNNSs.¹¹¹ In addition to the PET and IFE, the aggregation of CN nanostructures can also induce the PL quenching. Qiao and co-workers reported the PL detection of heparin by virtue of its electrostatic interaction with CNNSs (Fig. 8A).⁶⁴ The binding of heparin with CNNSs not only induced the aggregation of CNNSs, leading to self-quenching and collisional quenching but also changed the electronic distribution in the CNNSs planar framework.

In order to further improve the sensitivity of CN-based sensors, a "onoff-on" strategy has emerged to avoid fake signals produced by interference in the detection environment. In general, the PL of CN can be effectively quenched by various substances initially to change the "always-on" state of CN nanostructures. Afterwards, the PL signal merely tend to recover in the presence of targets and hence realize the detection of targets. For instance, Lv and co-workers has reported that CNNSs with persistent luminescence could be utilized to construct a sensitive sensing method for the detection of biothiols using Ag⁺ as the quencher as shown in Fig. 8B.⁹⁶ The PL of CNNSs was first quenched by Ag^+ via the PET and turned on due to the interruption of biothiols, which obviously impressed the effects of impurities and thus enhance the sensitivity. It has been realized to detect multiple substances like ascorbic acid¹¹⁴, hyaluronidase⁷⁶, alkaline phosphatase¹¹⁵, and cyanide¹¹⁶ using a "on-off-on" strategy by means of the PET between metal ions and CN nanostructures. Apart from metal ions, MnO₂ has also been reported by Yang and co-workers to quench the PL of CNNSs, which could be eliminated in the presence of glutathione due to the reduction of MnO₂ to Mn2⁺ and thus monitored the content of glutathione.¹¹⁷



Figure. 8. Photoluminescent sensing application of CN. A) Scheme of turn-off photoluminescent sensing of heparin by CNNS.⁶⁴ B) Scheme of on-off-on photoluminescent sensing of biothiols by CNNS.⁹⁶

For further enhancement of the sensitivity of CN-based sensors, the ratiometric PL strategy with dual-output signals was presented so as to normalize the variation from environmental changes and realize more accurate sensing. For example, Yin and co-workers have constructed a ratiometric PL probe composed of gold nanoclusters (AuNCs) and CNQDs to capture and detection of circulating tumor cells (CTCs).¹¹⁸ AuNCs and CNQDs served as two fluorophores respectively. The former kept unchanged but the later recovered in the presence of CTCs due to the decline of CNQDs aggregation.

5.2 Photoelectrochemical Biosensing

As mentioned above, PEC is a switching process from light to electricity, which mainly comprises the separation of electrons and holes under the irradiation, the conduction of electrons and holes from photoactive materials to the working electrode and electrolyte respectively as well as the oxidation of soluble substances by holes to complete the current circuit in the PEC cell. Certainly, it is possible for photo-induced electrons and holes transfer in the reverse direction. Thus, any variation in these several step in the PEC process may result in changes of photocurrent signals, which contributes to flexible and multiple possible biosensing designs. The fundamental mechanisms can be mainly divided into two pathways. One is to directly consume the photo-induced electrons or holes by the redox of targets dissolved in the electrolyte to hinder the recombination of electron-hole pairs and consequently generated enhanced PEC signals.

A series of "turn-on" PEC biosensors have been constructed via the direct consumption of holes on the VB of CN materials, which generally require the appropriate redox potential of targets. ¹¹⁹⁻¹²⁰For example, Zhang and co-workers presented a PEC sensor for the detection of tetracycline which could be oxidized after capturing by the aptamer and encountering the holes of CN-CdS nanocomposites.⁸⁰ Besides, Yuan and co-workers constructed a PEC biosensor coupling with a DNA walker for the detection of microRNA, where the photoinduced current obviously rose after the approach of Dox to the g-C₃N₄ substrate as illustrated in Fig. 9A.²⁶ Similarly, targets can also be detected by means of accepting the electrons on the CB of CN materials, resulting in improved PEC signals. Dai and co-workers have realized the PEC sensing of human interleukin-6 by virtue of nanocomposites of CN and AgI with enhanced PEC signals, which could be further improved due to the decreasing photoinduced electrons scavenged by the product of biocatalytic precipitation reaction.¹⁰⁸ The other strategy is to indirectly affect the concentrations of electron donors or acceptors via interactions or reactions with targets and hence to vary the PEC signals, which can be further classified into two types according to the enhancement or suppression of photocurrents. As for the increased PEC signal, Yin and co-workers has constructed a CN-TiO₂ based PEC biosensor for the detection of PKA which could catalyze

the L-ascorbic acid 2-phosphate trisodium salt (AAP) to produce electron donor of ascorbic acid (AA), resulting in the enhanced photocurrent.¹⁰³ Moreover, materials with catalase-like activity to generate the electrons donors or acceptors have also been applied in the CN-based PEC sensors. Dai and co-workers have realized the monitoring of H₂O₂ by capturing Gquadruplex/hemin/Pt nanoparticles on CNNSs through the base complementary, which could catalyze the decomposition of H_2O_2 into oxygen and consequently consume the photoinduced electrons of CN and boost the photocurrent (Fig. 9B).¹⁰⁵ Differently, Tang and co-workers designed a CN-based "turn-off" PEC biosensor for the detection of prostate-specific antigen (PSA), where the Cu^{2+} generated by the oxidation of DNA-templated copper nanoclusters could effectively suppress the photocurrent via grabbing the electrons from CB of CN.¹²¹ This kind of indirect approach can fairly enrich the species of targets in CN-based PEC sensors. Apart from these two typical biosensing designs, as a kind of photoactive materials, CN can serve as a PEC tag which tends to access the working electrodes in the presence of targets to generate the photocurrent intimately related to the concentrations of targets.²⁷ Besides, given the insulation of biomacromolecules, the PEC biosensing can also been realized through the binding of targets with low conductivity on the surface of CN, reducing the photocurrent. Wu and co-workers have constructed a "turn-off" PEC sensor for thrombin which could block the electron transfer from the electron donor to the CN and TiO₂ composite.¹⁰⁴ Multiple steps in the PEC process contribute to various mechanisms of CN-based PEC biosensors towards abundant targets.



Figure. 9. Photoelectrochemical sensing application of CN. A) Schematic illustration of photoelectrochemical sensing of micro-DNA via the combination of CN and Dox with an improved PEC signal.²⁶ B) Schematic illustration of photoelectrochemical sensing of H₂O₂ by CNNS and PbS quantum dots.¹⁰⁵

5.3 Electrochemiluminescent Biosensing

As the reverse process of PEC, ECL that is driven by the electrochemical generation of excited states mostly with the assistance of coreactants, has drawn increasing attention for biosensors because of its attractive merits such as the avoidance of photoexcitation background and the principally high signal-to-noise ratio. Based on multiple steps of the ECL process involving the conversion between electrons and photons, the ECL sensing mechanisms can be flexible and various. Firstly, some analytes can accept the electrons from the CB of CN materials in the excited state to quenched the ECL signal, which has been widely used to construct reliable sensors especially for metal ions. Choi and co-workers constructed the "turn-off" ECL sensor to detect the copper ions for the first time, in which copper ions coordinated with the inherent ligands of CN could quench the ECL due to the electrons transfer from CN.95 Our groups realized the detection of Cu²⁺ via CNNS prepared by liquid-exfoliation of bulk g-CN with different degrees of polymerization.¹² It is worth noting that the selectivity of copper can be attributed to the redox potential of Cu^{2+}/Cu lying between the CB and VB of CN materials. Not merely for sensing metal ions, our group has realized the detection of the target DNA by means of the ability of Cu²⁺ to bind with the N7 position of DNA bases and quench the ECL of CNNS.⁶⁵ An alternative way to quench the ECL signal of CN is thought to be the ECL resonance energy transfer (ECL-RET) in which the energy of excited CN can be efficiently transferred to some neighboring substances to realize the "turn-off" biosensing.¹⁰⁶ For example. Xiao and co-workers has presented an ECL sensor for rutin since its oxidation product could effectively quench the anodic ECL of CN due to the energy transfer.⁸⁷ To further enhance the sensitivity, a series of ratiometric assays have been constructed based on the ECL-RET process, which could effectively normalize for environmental changes through the ratio of double signals. Usually, CN can serve as the donor whose signal is declined in the presence of targets and consequently generate another signal through the energy transfer to other substances such as dimethylthiodiaminoterephthalate,¹⁰¹ Ru(dcbpy)₃²⁺ nanocomposites⁹⁰ and so on. Chen and co-workers realized the dual-wavelength ratiometric detection of microRNA by means of the RET from the AuNPs

functionalized CN to Ru(dcbpy)₃²⁺ (Fig. 10A).¹²² Moreover, CN nanostructures can be directly utilized as ECL tags in the biosensing to realize the "turn-on" detection when reaching the surface of electrodes due to the recognition interaction of biomolecules.^{25, 92, 94} For instance, Yuan and co-workers reported an ECL sensor for cardiac troponin I using the antigen-antibody interaction to capture CNNSs whose ECL signals was improved by MIL(Fe).93 Our group developed a sandwich-assembled ECL biosensor for the detection of DNA methyltransferase via the affinity of single-stranded DNA and CNNSs, where multifunctional CNNSs served as both the analyte reporter and the self-test reporter to enhance the reliability.⁹⁹ Given the necessity of coreactants in CN-based ECL biosensing, ECL signals can be indirectly disturbed through the changes in the concentration of coreactants neighboring CN materials induced by various recognition interactions of targets. For example, Ju and co-workers has ever constructed a DNA ECL biosensor by virtue of the DNA strands labeled by hemin which could consume the dissolved oxygen and thus inhibited the generation of H₂O₂, the endogenous coreactant for CNNSs.¹²³ In addition to chemical reactions, the steric hindrance of biomolecules with high molecular weights can also been taken as effective approach for modulating the diffusion of coreactants or electrons to the surface of CN materials. A variety of proteins have been successfully detected by limiting the concentration of conreactants or electrons at the surface of CN modified electrodes.^{50, 89} Notably, Kim and co-workers has built Boolean logic gates OR and AND for simultaneously sensing proteases and nucleases by virtue of the steric hindrance of polymers.¹²⁴ Lastly but not the least, the multiple-mechanism-driven ECL biosensing has emerged to boost the sensitivity and broaden the detection range. Our group developed a biomimetic ECL biosensor for 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine based on two competitive mechanisms involving catalysis and steric hindrance, resulting in inherently improved sensitivity compared with those of singlemechanism-driven biosensors as illustrated in Fig. 10B.²⁴



Figure. 10. Electrochemiluminescent sensing application of CN. A) Scheme of the dualwavelength ratiometric ECL-RET sensing of micro-RNA by CNNS and Ru(bpy) $3^{2+,122}$ B) Scheme of the dual-mechanism-driven electrochemiluminescent sensing of 8-OhdG with different reactions occurring at the biosensor at (left) low and (right) high concentrations of 8-OHdG.²⁴

6. Outlook

It should be noted that as a metal-free semiconductor most investigations of CN are focusing on its optoelectronic properties, which have already demonstrated its great potential to be an emerging probe to address the challenges in more demanding biosensing applications. Nonetheless, new mechanism and more insights of kinetics for carbon nitride in biosensing are still significantly lacking, which deserves a future comprehensive study.

Moreover, beyond the wide studied semiconducting properties, other interesting features, e.g., that originate from its unique molecular structures also show new lights of advancing functions of CN for biosensing. For example, CN materials own an intense electron donating nature by virtue of the high nitrogen content, which also endow CN with unique catalytic properties. In addition to their photocatalytic activity, CN materials also exhibit a peroxidase-like activity to catalyze the decomposition reaction of H_2O_2 to generate reactive hydroxyl radicals, which has been frequently applied in colorimetric sensing coupled with the 3,3',5,5'- tetramethylbenzidine (TMB). For instance, Qu and coworkers have constructed a facile proteins sensing array using CNNSs as the single sensing receptor with multiple readout signals owing to the different interactions between CNNS and proteins.²⁹ The intense interaction could severely affect the accessibility of substrates to the active sites on the surface of $g-C_3N_4$ nanosheets, suppressing the catalytic efficiency of CNNSs. However, Jiang and co-workers have found that single-stranded DNA adsorbed on g-C₃N₄ nanosheets could obviously improve the peroxidase-like catalytic activity of CNNSs and realized the sensitive colorimetric detection of exosomes in the solution of H_2O_2 and TMB (Fig. 11A).³⁰ Such activity enhancement could be attributed to the strong interaction between TMB and ssDNA mediated by electrostatic attraction and aromatic stacking. Moreover, some CN-based nanozymes can also catalyze the conversion of o-phenylenediamine (OPD) to fluorescent 2,3-diaminophenazine (DAP) in the presence of H₂O₂. Given the fluorescent property and quenching effect of the product DAP, ratiometric fluorescence sensors were established to directly detect hydrogen peroxide or indirectly detect the glucose with the assistance of glucose oxidase.¹²⁵⁻¹²⁶ Interestingly, it was demonstrated by Zhang and coworkers that the intense electron donating feature also endowed CNQDs with the reducibility for the reduction of Ag⁺ to Ag nanoparticles with an unique absorption peak, which could be utilized for colorimetric biosensing of biothiols.³¹ Besides, CN-based nanocomposites have also been found to possess the electrocatalytic activity. Wang and co-workers have realized the electrochemical sensing for the hydrogen peroxide due to the unique catalytic performance of the synthesized copper oxide-CN nanocomposites.127

In another interesting work, by virtue of the strong affinity for Lewis acid, the mesoporous carbon nitride (MCN) was applied in volatile organic compounds sensors with the assistance of the quartz crystal microbalance (QCM) technique (Fig. 11C).¹²⁸ It has been demonstrated that the presence of 3D structures with large specific surface area as well as tremendous active Lewis basic sites (-NH₂, -NH) of MCN could offer widely opened spaces and access to more number of interaction sites for the targets absorption. Our group found the CN nanofibers could be obtained by means of hydrolyzing bulk CN in sodium hydroxide solution, the surface of which were modified with abundant functional groups such as -NH_x and -OH.¹²⁹ Interestingly, the as-obtained CN nanofibers could transform into

a 3D hydrogel network once contacted with CO₂ which formed a delicate complexation with functional -NH_x groups. The reverse transformation process could be easily realized by bubbling N₂ to remove CO₂. More importantly, this kind of CN hydrogel exhibited excellent ability to highly selectively extract specific dyes as well as reversibly release them by virtue of the collaborative electrostatic and π - π interactions. Such feature could significantly contribute to the sample preconcentration and release with high selectivity and efficiency for biosensing.



Figure. 11. Multiple novel sensing mechanisms of CN materials. A) Scheme of DNA aptamer accelerating the intrinsic peroxide-like activity of CNNS for the detection of exosomes.³⁰ B) Scheme of the UV-assisted cataluminescence sensor for gaseous CO based on CN.¹³⁰ C) Response of quartz crystal microbalance sensor coated by mesoporous CN on different organic vapors.¹²⁸

Various unique chemiluminescence (CL) phenomena dependent on CNbased materials have been discovered recently, and it would also be developed as a future research field. As for these systems, CN served as luminophores. For example, Lv and co-workers found that prepared CNQDs exhibited a strong chemiluminescence emission in the presence of NaClO and thus realized the direct CL sensing for the free chlorine.²³ Moreover, a UV-assisted cataluminescence (CTL) sensor for the detection of gaseous CO was successfully developed by means of CN, where CO molecules activated by the UV irradiation were combined with the functional carboxyl groups on CN and catalyzed to emit strong luminescence (Fig. 11B). 130



Figure. 12. CN-based mechanical deformation sensor for breathing. A) H₂O-induced deformation of CN nanoribbons with an anisotropic intraplanar and interplanar molecular arrangement. B) Scheme of breath management using the proposed contactless CNNRs–CNTs humidity sensor in an open environment and graphic waveforms of breathing from different volunteers detected by the CNNRs–CNTs humidity sensor.¹³¹

CN materials can also be utilized to construct effective sensing platforms through the mechanical deformation due to the interaction between their nanostructures and small molecules. For instance, our group proposed a humidity sensor with high selectivity and sensitivity based on the anisotropic deformation of CN nanoribbons (CNNR) upon interaction with water molecules, which derived from the reversible formation of a hydrogen-bonded H₂O adsorption layer as illustrated in Fig. 12A.¹³¹ Such mechanical deformation could be facilely converted into measurable electrical readouts after coupling with carbon nanotubes (CNTs) via π - π interaction. The excellent reversibility of as-obtained sensor was attributed to the competitive wettability between the hydrophilic edge and

hydrophobic basal plane of CNNR. Taking advantage of the ultrafast response speed (50 ms), the CNNR-based humidity sensor was successfully applied to real-time respiratory monitoring in a contactless and open-environment mode (Fig. 12B). Interestingly, the as-obtained real-time breathing graphic waveforms exhibited much higher sensitivity than that by the clinic pulmonary function testing station in a sealed mode.



Figure. 13. Carbon nitrides with different stoichiometric C/N ratio. C atoms are colored in gray, while N atoms are colored in blue. The red arrows highlight the bond directions in each topological structure. The three- and six-bond-extending framework in different C_xN_y materials are classified by using orange and green background, respectively.⁵⁴

Despite the rapid development of CN-based sensors, the sensing application of CN materials just takes the initial step. As a kind of metal-free polymeric semiconductor, CN with flexible structures and various C and N stoichiometric ratios can be facilely designed and prepared for further improved properties and performance in construction of sensors (Fig. 13).⁵⁴ Moreover, the excellent dispersibility in wet media and intense interaction as well as recognition with target molecules contribute to highly selective and sensitive sensing, which demands for novel approaches for preparing CN nanostructures and effective modification of

abundant functional groups on the surface. Furthermore, the low electronic conductivity of CN itself and poor charge transfer between CN and substrates still hinder the sensing application of CN materials, especially for ECL and PEC with the photoelectric transformation. Hence, it makes sense to improve the electronic conductivity of CN by doping with proper atoms, constructing nanocomposites with other highly conductive materials and so on. Besides, outstanding preparation techniques of CN electrodes are supposed to be discovered to realize the intimate contact and effective charge transfer between CN materials and substrates and further enhance the sensing performance.

References

- 1. Liebig, J. Uber einige Stickstoff Verbindungen. Ann. Pharm. 1834, 10, 1-47.
- Thomas, A.; Fischer, A.; Goettmann, F.; Antonietti, M.; Müller, J.-O.; Schlögl, R.; Carlsson, J. M. Graphitic carbon nitride materials: variation of structure and morphology and their use as metal-free catalysts. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2008**, *18*, 4893.
- Wang, X.; Maeda, K.; Thomas, A.; Takanabe, K.; Xin, G.; Carlsson, J. M.; Domen, K.; Antonietti, M. A metal-free polymeric photocatalyst for hydrogen production from water under visible light. *Nat. Mater.* 2008, *8*, 76-80.
- 4. Cohen, A. Y. L. a. M. L. Prediction of Low Compressibility Solids. *Science* **1989**, 245, 841-842.
- 5. Teter, D. M.; Hemley, R. J. Low-Compressibility Carbon Nitrides. *Science* **1996**, *271*, 53-55.
- Liu, J.; Liu, Y.; Liu, N.; Han, Y.; Zhang, X.; Huang, H.; Lifshitz, Y.; Lee, S.-T.; Zhong, J.; Kang, Z. ChemInform Abstract: Metal-Free Efficient Photocatalyst for Stable Visible Water Splitting via a Two-Electron Pathway. *ChemInform* 2015, 347, 970-974.
- Zhou, Z.; Wang, J.; Yu, J.; Shen, Y.; Li, Y.; Liu, A.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Dissolution and Liquid Crystals Phase of 2D Polymeric Carbon Nitride. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2015, *137*, 2179-2182.
- Xu, J.; Brenner, T. J. K.; Chabanne, L.; Neher, D.; Antonietti, M.; Shalom, M. Liquid-Based Growth of Polymeric Carbon Nitride Layers and Their Use in a Mesostructured Polymer Solar Cell with Voc Exceeding 1 V. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 13486-13489.
- 9. Cui, Q.; Xu, J.; Wang, X.; Li, L.; Antonietti, M.; Shalom, M. Phenyl-Modified Carbon Nitride Quantum Dots with Distinct Photoluminescence Behavior. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 3672-3676.
- 10. Zhang, J.; Zhang, M.; Yang, C.; Wang, X. Nanospherical Carbon Nitride Frameworks with Sharp Edges Accelerating Charge Collection and Separation at a Soft Photocatalytic Interface. *Adv. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 4121-4126.
- 11. Zhou, Z.; Shen, Y.; Li, Y.; Liu, A.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Chemical Cleavage of Layered Carbon Nitride with Enhanced Photoluminescent Performances and Photoconduction. *ACS Nano* **2015**, *9*, 12480-12487.

- Zhou, Z.; Shang, Q.; Shen, Y.; Zhang, L.; Zhang, Y.; Lv, Y.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Chemically Modulated Carbon Nitride Nanosheets for Highly Selective Electrochemiluminescent Detection of Multiple Metal-ions. *Anal. Chem.* 2016, 88, 6004-6010.
- 13. Zhao, F.; Cheng, H.; Hu, Y.; Song, L.; Zhang, Z.; Jiang, L.; Qu, L. Functionalized Graphitic Carbon Nitride for Metal-free, Flexible and Rewritable Nonvolatile Memory Device via Direct Laser-Writing. *Sci. Rep.* **2014**, *4*,5882.
- Kessler, F. K.; Zheng, Y.; Schwarz, D.; Merschjann, C.; Schnick, W.; Wang, X.; Bojdys, M. J. Functional carbon nitride materials — design strategies for electrochemical devices. *Nat. Rev. Mater.* **2017**, *2*, 17030.
- 15. Gillan, E. G. Synthesis of Nitrogen-Rich Carbon Nitride Networks from an Energetic Molecular Azide Precursor. *Chem. Mater.* **2000**, *12*, 3906-3912.
- 16. Liu, J.; Wang, H.; Antonietti, M. Graphitic carbon nitride "reloaded": emerging applications beyond (photo)catalysis. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2016**, *45*, 2308-2326.
- 17. Xu, J.; Antonietti, M.; Shalom, M. Moving Graphitic Carbon Nitride from Electrocatalysis and Photocatalysis to a Potential Electrode Material for Photoelectric Devices. *Chem. Asian J.* **2016**, *11*, 2499-2512.
- Ong, W.-J.; Tan, L.-L.; Ng, Y. H.; Yong, S.-T.; Chai, S.-P. Graphitic Carbon Nitride (g-C₃N₄)-Based Photocatalysts for Artificial Photosynthesis and Environmental Remediation: Are We a Step Closer To Achieving Sustainability? *Chem. Rev.* 2016, *116*, 7159-7329.
- Sun, J.; Zhang, J.; Zhang, M.; Antonietti, M.; Fu, X.; Wang, X. Bioinspired hollow semiconductor nanospheres as photosynthetic nanoparticles. *Nat. Commun.* 2012, 3,
- Zhang, J.; Zhang, M.; Sun, R.-Q.; Wang, X. A Facile Band Alignment of Polymeric Carbon Nitride Semiconductors to Construct Isotype Heterojunctions. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2012, *51*, 10145-10149.
- 21. Wang, X.; Blechert, S.; Antonietti, M. Polymeric Graphitic Carbon Nitride for Heterogeneous Photocatalysis. *ACS Catal.* **2012**, *2*, 1596-1606.
- Lee, E. Z.; Jun, Y.-S.; Hong, W. H.; Thomas, A.; Jin, M. M. Cubic Mesoporous Graphitic Carbon(IV) Nitride: An All-in-One Chemosensor for Selective Optical Sensing of Metal Ions. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 9706-9710.
- Tang, Y.; Su, Y.; Yang, N.; Zhang, L.; Lv, Y. Carbon Nitride Quantum Dots: A Novel Chemiluminescence System for Selective Detection of Free Chlorine in Water. *Anal. Chem.* 2014, *86*, 4528-4535.
- Lv, Y.; Chen, S.; Shen, Y.; Ji, J.; Zhou, Q.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Competitive Multiple-Mechanism-Driven Electrochemiluminescent Detection of 8-Hydroxy-2'deoxyguanosine. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2018, 140, 2801-2804.
- Zhang, Y.; Wang, F.; Zhang, H.; Wang, H.; Liu, Y. Multivalency Interface and g-C3N4 Coated Liquid Metal Nanoprobe Signal Amplification for Sensitive Electrogenerated Chemiluminescence Detection of Exosomes and Their Surface Proteins. *Anal. Chem.* 2019, *91*, 12100-12107.
- Wang, Y.; Xia, L.; Wei, C.; Wang, H.; Wang, H.; Yuan, R.; Wei, S. Ultrasensitive photoelectrochemical microRNA biosensor based on doxorubicin sensitized graphitic carbon nitride assisted by a target-activated enzyme-free DNA walker. *Chem. Commun.* 2019, 55, 13082-13084.
- 27. Dai, H.; Zhang, S.; Hong, Z.; Lin, Y. A Potentiometric Addressable Photoelectrochemical Biosensor for Sensitive Detection of Two Biomarkers. *Anal. Chem.* **2016**, *88*, 9532-9538.

- Sengupta, P.; Pramanik, K.; Datta, P.; Sarkar, P. Chemically modified carbon nitridechitin-acetic acid hybrid as a metal-free bifunctional nanozyme cascade of glucose oxidase-peroxidase for "click off" colorimetric detection of peroxide and glucose. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 2020, 154, 112072.
- Qiu, H.; Pu, F.; Ran, X.; Liu, C.; Ren, J.; Qu, X. Nanozyme as Artificial Receptor with Multiple Readouts for Pattern Recognition. *Anal. Chem.* 2018, *90*, 11775-11779.
- Wang, Y.-M.; Liu, J.-W.; Adkins, G. B.; Shen, W.; Trinh, M. P.; Duan, L.-Y.; Jiang, J.-H.; Zhong, W. Enhancement of the Intrinsic Peroxidase-Like Activity of Graphitic Carbon Nitride Nanosheets by ssDNAs and Its Application for Detection of Exosomes. *Anal. Chem.* 2017, 89, 12327-12333.
- 31. Lu, Q.; Wang, H.; Liu, Y.; Hou, Y.; Li, H.; Zhang, Y. Graphitic carbon nitride nanodots: As reductant for the synthesis of silver nanoparticles and its biothiols biosensing application. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2017**, *89*, 411-416.
- 32. Zhou, Z.; Zhang, Y.; Shen, Y.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Molecular engineering of polymeric carbon nitride: advancing applications from photocatalysis to biosensing and more. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2018**, *47*, 2298-2321.
- 33. Chen, L.; Song, J. Tailored Graphitic Carbon Nitride Nanostructures: Synthesis, Modification, and Sensing Applications. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2017**, *27*, 1702695.
- Lin, Z.; Wang, X. Nanostructure Engineering and Doping of Conjugated Carbon Nitride Semiconductors for Hydrogen Photosynthesis. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2013, 52, 1735-1738.
- Wang, Y.; Zhang, J.; Wang, X.; Antonietti, M.; Li, H. Boron- and Fluorine-Containing Mesoporous Carbon Nitride Polymers: Metal-Free Catalysts for Cyclohexane Oxidation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2010, 49, 3356-3359.
- 36. Dong, G.; Zhao, K.; Zhang, L. Carbon self-doping induced high electronic conductivity and photoreactivity of g-C3N4. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 6178.
- 37. Yan, H. Soft-templating synthesis of mesoporous graphitic carbon nitride with enhanced photocatalytic H2 evolution under visible light. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 3430.
- She, X.; Wu, J.; Zhong, J.; Xu, H.; Yang, Y.; Vajtai, R.; Lou, J.; Liu, Y.; Du, D.; Li, H.; Ajayan, P. M. Oxygenated monolayer carbon nitride for excellent photocatalytic hydrogen evolution and external quantum efficiency. *Nano Energy* 2016, 27, 138-146.
- Liu, J.; Li, W.; Duan, L.; Li, X.; Ji, L.; Geng, Z.; Huang, K.; Lu, L.; Zhou, L.; Liu, Z.; Chen, W.; Liu, L.; Feng, S.; Zhang, Y. A Graphene-like Oxygenated Carbon Nitride Material for Improved Cycle-Life Lithium/Sulfur Batteries. *Nano Lett.* 2015, 15, 5137-5142.
- Wang, Y.; Di, Y.; Antonietti, M.; Li, H.; Chen, X.; Wang, X. Excellent Visible-Light Photocatalysis of Fluorinated Polymeric Carbon Nitride Solids. *Chemistry of Materials* 2010, 22, 5119-5121.
- 41. Ma, T. Y.; Ran, J.; Dai, S.; Jaroniec, M.; Qiao, S. Z. Phosphorus-Doped Graphitic Carbon Nitrides Grown In Situ on Carbon-Fiber Paper: Flexible and Reversible Oxygen Electrodes. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2015**, *54*, 4646-4650.
- 42. Guo, S.; Deng, Z.; Li, M.; Jiang, B.; Tian, C.; Pan, Q.; Fu, H. Phosphorus-Doped Carbon Nitride Tubes with a Layered Micro-nanostructure for Enhanced Visible-Light Photocatalytic Hydrogen Evolution. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 1830-1834.

- Liu, G.; Niu, P.; Sun, C.; Smith, S. C.; Chen, Z.; Lu, G. Q.; Cheng, H.-M. Unique Electronic Structure Induced High Photoreactivity of Sulfur-Doped Graphitic C₃N₄. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2010, *132*, 11642-11648.
- 44. Lan, Z.-A.; Zhang, G.; Wang, X. A facile synthesis of Br-modified g-C3N4 semiconductors for photoredox water splitting. *Appl. Catal. B: Environ.* **2016**, *192*, 116-125.
- 45. Zhang, G.; Zhang, M.; Ye, X.; Qiu, X.; Lin, S.; Wang, X. Iodine Modified Carbon Nitride Semiconductors as Visible Light Photocatalysts for Hydrogen Evolution. *Adv. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 805-809.
- Pei, Z.; Gu, J.; Wang, Y.; Tang, Z.; Liu, Z.; Huang, Y.; Huang, Y.; Zhao, J.; Chen, Z.; Zhi, C. Component Matters: Paving the Roadmap toward Enhanced Electrocatalytic Performance of Graphitic C₃N₄-Based Catalysts via Atomic Tuning. *ACS Nano* 2017, 11, 6004-6014.
- Moon, G.-h.; Fujitsuka, M.; Kim, S.; Majima, T.; Wang, X.; Choi, W. Eco-Friendly Photochemical Production of H₂O₂ through O₂ Reduction over Carbon Nitride Frameworks Incorporated with Multiple Heteroelements. *ACS Catal.* 2017, *7*, 2886-2895.
- Zhang, Y.; Mori, T.; Ye, J.; Antonietti, M. Phosphorus-Doped Carbon Nitride Solid: Enhanced Electrical Conductivity and Photocurrent Generation. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 6294-6295.
- Rong, M.; Cai, Z.; Xie, L.; Lin, C.; Song, X.; Luo, F.; Wang, Y.; Chen, X. Study on the Ultrahigh Quantum Yield of Fluorescent P,O-g-C3N4Nanodots and its Application in Cell Imaging. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2016, *22*, 9387-9395.
- Lv, Y.; Zhou, Z.; Shen, Y.; Zhou, Q.; Ji, J.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Coupled Fluorometer-Potentiostat System and Metal-Free Monochromatic Luminophores for High-Resolution Wavelength-Resolved Electrochemiluminescent Multiplex Bioassay. ACS Sensors 2018, 3, 1362-1367.
- Zhang, Q.; Liu, Y.; Nie, Y.; Liu, Y.; Ma, Q. Wavelength-Dependent Surface Plasmon Coupling Electrochemiluminescence Biosensor Based on Sulfur-Doped Carbon Nitride Quantum Dots for K-RAS Gene Detection. *Anal. Chem.* 2019, *91*, 13780-13786.
- 52. Li, H.; Zhu, B.; Cao, S.; Yu, J. Controlling defects in crystalline carbon nitride to optimize photocatalytic CO2 reduction. *Chem. Commun.* **2020**, *56*, 5641-5644.
- 53. Yu, H.; Shi, R.; Zhao, Y.; Bian, T.; Zhao, Y.; Zhou, C.; Waterhouse, G. I. N.; Wu, L.-Z.; Tung, C.-H.; Zhang, T. Alkali-Assisted Synthesis of Nitrogen Deficient Graphitic Carbon Nitride with Tunable Band Structures for Efficient Visible-Light-Driven Hydrogen Evolution. *Adv. Mater.* 2017, *29*, 1605148.
- Yang, H.; Wang, Z.; Liu, S.; Shen, Y.; Zhang, Y. Molecular engineering of CxNy: Topologies, electronic structures and multidisciplinary applications. *Chinese. Chem. Lett.* 2020, 31,3047-3054.
- 55. Kumar, P.; Vahidzadeh, E.; Thakur, U. K.; Kar, P.; Alam, K. M.; Goswami, A.; Mahdi, N.; Cui, K.; Bernard, G. M.; Michaelis, V. K.; Shankar, K. C₃N₅: A Low Bandgap Semiconductor Containing an Azo-Linked Carbon Nitride Framework for Photocatalytic, Photovoltaic and Adsorbent Applications. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2019**, *141*, 5415-5436.
- Kim, I. Y.; Kim, S.; Jin, X.; Premkumar, S.; Chandra, G.; Lee, N.-S.; Mane, G. P.; Hwang, S. J.; Umapathy, S.; Vinu, A. Ordered Mesoporous C₃N₅ with a Combined

Triazole and Triazine Framework and Its Graphene Hybrids for the Oxygen Reduction Reaction (ORR). *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2018**, *57*, 17135-17140.

- Zhou, G.; Shan, Y.; Hu, Y.; Xu, X.; Long, L.; Zhang, J.; Dai, J.; Guo, J.; Shen, J.; Li, S.; Liu, L.; Wu, X. Half-metallic carbon nitride nanosheets with micro grid mode resonance structure for efficient photocatalytic hydrogen evolution. *Nat. Commun.* 2018, *9*,3366.
- 58. Montigaud, H.; Tanguy, B.; Demazeau, G.; Alves, I.; Courjault, S. *Journal of Mater. Sci.* **2000**, *35*, 2547-2552.
- Zhang, Z.; Leinenweber, K.; Bauer, M.; Garvie, L. A. J.; McMillan, P. F.; Wolf, G. H. High-Pressure Bulk Synthesis of Crystalline C₆N₉H₃·HCl: A Novel C₃N₄ Graphitic Derivative. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 7788-7796.
- 60. Li, C.; Cao, C.-B.; Zhu, H.-S. Graphitic carbon nitride thin films deposited by electrodeposition. *Mater. Lett.* **2004**, *58*, 1903-1906.
- Lotsch, B. V.; Schnick, W. From Triazines to Heptazines: Novel Nonmetal Tricyanomelaminates as Precursors for Graphitic Carbon Nitride Materials. *Chem. Mater.* 2006, 18, 1891-1900.
- Zhang, X.; Xie, X.; Wang, H.; Zhang, J.; Pan, B.; Xie, Y. Enhanced Photoresponsive Ultrathin Graphitic-Phase C₃N₄ Nanosheets for Bioimaging. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2012, *135*, 18-21.
- 63. Niu, P.; Zhang, L.; Liu, G.; Cheng, H.-M. Graphene-Like Carbon Nitride Nanosheets for Improved Photocatalytic Activities. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2012**, *22*, 4763-4770.
- 64. Ma, T. Y.; Tang, Y.; Dai, S.; Qiao, S. Z. Proton-Functionalized Two-Dimensional Graphitic Carbon Nitride Nanosheet: An Excellent Metal-/Label-Free Biosensing Platform. *Small* **2014**, *10*, 2382-2389.
- 65. Ji, J.; Wen, J.; Shen, Y.; Lv, Y.; Chen, Y.; Liu, S.; Ma, H.; Zhang, Y. Simultaneous Noncovalent Modification and Exfoliation of 2D Carbon Nitride for Enhanced Electrochemiluminescent Biosensing. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2017**, *139*, 11698-11701.
- 66. Liu, H.; Wang, X.; Wang, H.; Nie, R. Synthesis and biomedical applications of graphitic carbon nitride quantum dots. *J. Mater. Chem. B* **2019**, *7*, 5432-5448.
- 67. Li, M.; Chen, T.; Gooding, J. J.; Liu, J. Review of Carbon and Graphene Quantum Dots for Sensing. *ACS Sensors* **2019**, *4*, 1732-1748.
- 68. Song, Z.; Lin, T.; Lin, L.; Lin, S.; Fu, F.; Wang, X.; Guo, L. Invisible Security Ink Based on Water-Soluble Graphitic Carbon Nitride Quantum Dots. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 2773-2777.
- Zhang, X.; Wang, H.; Wang, H.; Zhang, Q.; Xie, J.; Tian, Y.; Wang, J.; Xie, Y. Single-Layered Graphitic-C₃N₄ Quantum Dots for Two-Photon Fluorescence Imaging of Cellular Nucleus. *Adv. Mater.* **2014**, *26*, 4438-4443.
- Zhang, S.; Li, J.; Zeng, M.; Xu, J.; Wang, X.; Hu, W. Polymer nanodots of graphitic carbon nitride as effective fluorescent probes for the detection of Fe³⁺ and Cu²⁺ ions. *Nanoscale* 2014, 6, 4157.
- Yang, M.; Mei, H.; Shen, Y.; Wu, K.; Pan, D.; Liu, S.; Zhang, T.; Zhang, Y. Hot-Tailoring of Carbon Nitride Dots with Redshifted Photoluminescence for Visual Double Text Encryption and Bioimaging. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2019, 25, 10188-10196.
- 72. Lu, Y.-C.; Chen, J.; Wang, A.-J.; Bao, N.; Feng, J.-J.; Wang, W.; Shao, L. Facile synthesis of oxygen and sulfur co-doped graphitic carbon nitride fluorescent quantum dots and their application for mercury(II) detection and bioimaging. *J. Mater. Chem. C* **2015**, *3*, 73-78.

- 73. Liu, S.; Tian, J.; Wang, L.; Luo, Y.; Zhai, J.; Sun, X. Preparation of photoluminescent carbon nitride dots from CCl₄ and 1, 2-ethylenediamine: a heat-treatment-based strategy. *J. Mater. Chem.* **2011**, *21*, 11726.
- 74. Zhou, J.; Yang, Y.; Zhang, C.-y. A low-temperature solid-phase method to synthesize highly fluorescent carbon nitride dots with tunable emission. *Chem. Commun.* **2013**, *49*, 8605.
- 75. Zhang, X.; Xie, Y. Recent advances in free-standing two-dimensional crystals with atomic thickness: design, assembly and transfer strategies. *Chem. Soc. Rev.* **2013**, *42*, 8187.
- Liu, J. W.; Wang, Y. M.; Zhang, C.-H.; Duan, L. Y.; Li, Z.; Yu, R. Q.; Jiang, J. H. Tumor-Targeted Graphitic Carbon Nitride Nanoassembly for Activatable Two-Photon Fluorescence Imaging. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 4649-4656.
- 77. Zhang, Y.; Thomas, A.; Antonietti, M.; Wang, X. Activation of Carbon Nitride Solids by Protonation: Morphology Changes, Enhanced Ionic Conductivity, and Photoconduction Experiments. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 50-51.
- Zhang, Y.; Antonietti, M. Photocurrent Generation by Polymeric Carbon Nitride Solids: An Initial Step towards a Novel Photovoltaic System. *Chem. Asian J.* 2010, 5,1307-1311.
- Zhao, L.; Ji, J.; Shen, Y.; Wu, K.; Zhao, T.; Yang, H.; Lv, Y.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Exfoliation and Sensitization of 2D Carbon Nitride for Photoelectrochemical Biosensing under Red Light. *Chem. Eur. J.* 2019, 25, 15680-15686.
- 80. Liu, Y.; Yan, K.; Zhang, J. Graphitic Carbon Nitride Sensitized with CdS Quantum Dots for Visible-Light-Driven Photoelectrochemical Aptasensing of Tetracycline. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2015**, *8*, 28255-28264.
- Li, R.; Liu, Y.; Cheng, L.; Yang, C.; Zhang, J. Photoelectrochemical Aptasensing of Kanamycin Using Visible Light-Activated Carbon Nitride and Graphene Oxide Nanocomposites. *Anal. Chem.* 2014, *86*, 9372-9375.
- Bian, J.; Xi, L.; Huang, C.; Lange, K. M.; Zhang, R.-Q.; Shalom, M. Efficiency Enhancement of Carbon Nitride Photoelectrochemical Cells via Tailored Monomers Design. *Adv. Energy Mater.* 2016, *6*, 1600263.
- Zhao, T.; Zhou, Q.; Lv, Y.; Han, D.; Wu, K.; Zhao, L.; Shen, Y.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Ultrafast Condensation of Carbon Nitride on Electrodes with Exceptional Boosted Photocurrent and Electrochemiluminescence. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2019**, *59*, 1139-1143.
- Bian, J.; Li, J.; Kalytchuk, S.; Wang, Y.; Li, Q.; Lau, T. C.; Niehaus, T. A.; Rogach, A. L.; Zhang, R.-Q. Efficient Emission Facilitated by Multiple Energy Level Transitions in Uniform Graphitic Carbon Nitride Films Deposited by Thermal Vapor Condensation. *ChemPhysChem* **2015**, *16*, 954-959.
- Wang, J.; Zhang, C.; Shen, Y.; Zhou, Z.; Yu, J.; Li, Y.; Wei, W.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Environment-friendly preparation of porous graphite-phase polymeric carbon nitride using calcium carbonate as templates, and enhanced photoelectrochemical activity. *J. Mater. Chem. A* 2015, *3*, 5126-5131.
- 86. Chen, L.; Huang, D.; Ren, S.; Dong, T.; Chi, Y.; Chen, G. Preparation of graphitelike carbon nitride nanoflake film with strong fluorescent and electrochemiluminescent activity. *Nanoscale* **2013**, *5*, 225-230.
- 87. Cheng, C.; Huang, Y.; Wang, J.; Zheng, B.; Yuan, H.; Xiao, D. Anodic Electrogenerated Chemiluminescence Behavior of Graphite-Like Carbon Nitride and Its Sensing for Rutin. *Anal. Chem.* **2013**, *85*, 2601-2605.

- Du, X.; Jiang, D.; Dai, L.; Zhu, W.; Yang, X.; Hao, N.; Wang, K. Oxygen Vacancy Engineering in Europia Clusters/Graphite-Like Carbon Nitride Nanostructures Induced Signal Amplification for Highly Efficient Electrochemiluminesce Aptasensing. *Anal. Chem.* 2018, *90*, 3615-3620.
- Chen, L.; Zeng, X.; Si, P.; Chen, Y.; Chi, Y.; Kim, D.-H.; Chen, G. Gold Nanoparticle-Graphite-Like C₃N₄ Nanosheet Nanohybrids Used for Electrochemiluminescent Immunosensor. *Anal. Chem.* 2014, *86*, 4188-4195.
- Ye, J.; Zhu, L.; Yan, M.; Zhu, Q.; Lu, Q.; Huang, J.; Cui, H.; Yang, X. Dual-Wavelength Ratiometric Electrochemiluminescence Immunosensor for Cardiac Troponin I Detection. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *91*, 1524-1531.
- Jiang, X.; Wang, H.; Chai, Y.; Li, H.; Shi, W.; Yuan, R. DNA Cascade Reaction with High-Efficiency Target Conversion for Ultrasensitive Electrochemiluminescence microRNA Detection. *Anal. Chem.* **2019**, *91*, 10258-10265.
- 92. Sun, Y.; Zhang, Y.; Zhang, H.; Liu, M.; Liu, Y. Integrating Highly Efficient Recognition and Signal Transition of g-C₃N₄ Embellished Ti₃C₂ MXene Hybrid Nanosheets for Electrogenerated Chemiluminescence Analysis of Protein Kinase Activity. *Anal. Chem.* **2020**, *92*, 10668-10676.
- Jiang, X.; Wang, H.; Chai, Y.; Shi, W.; Yuan, R. High-Efficiency CNNS@NH₂-MIL(Fe) Electrochemiluminescence Emitters Coupled with Ti₃C₂ Nanosheets as a Matrix for a Highly Sensitive Cardiac Troponin I Assay. *Anal. Chem.* 2020, *92*, 8992-9000.
- Jin, Y.; Kang, Q.; Guo, X.; Zhang, B.; Shen, D.; Zou, G. Electrochemical-Signal-Amplification Strategy for an Electrochemiluminescence Immunoassay with g-C₃N₄ as Tags. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 12930-12936.
- Cheng, C.; Huang, Y.; Tian, X.; Zheng, B.; Li, Y.; Yuan, H.; Xiao, D.; Xie, S.; Choi, M. M. F. Electrogenerated Chemiluminescence Behavior of Graphite-like Carbon Nitride and Its Application in Selective Sensing Cu²⁺. *Anal. Chem.* 2012, *84*, 4754-4759.
- Tang, Y.; Song, H.; Su, Y.; Lv, Y. Turn-on Persistent Luminescence Probe Based on Graphitic Carbon Nitride for Imaging Detection of Biothiols in Biological Fluids. *Anal. Chem.* 2013, 85, 11876-11884.
- Cao, S.; Chen, H.; Jiang, F.; Hu, Z.; Wang, X. Construction of Acetaldehyde-Modified g-C₃N₄ Ultrathin Nanosheets via Ethylene Glycol-Assisted Liquid Exfoliation for Selective Fluorescence Sensing of Ag⁺. ACS Applied Materials & Interfaces 2018, 10, 44624-44633.
- Wang, Y.; Zhao, G.; Zhang, Y.; Du, B.; Wei, Q. Ultrasensitive photoelectrochemical immunosensor based on Cu-doped TiO₂ and carbon nitride for detection of carcinoembryonic antigen. *Carbon* 2019, *146*, 276-283.
- Chen, S.; Lv, Y.; Shen, Y.; Ji, J.; Zhou, Q.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Highly Sensitive and Quality Self-Testable Electrochemiluminescence Assay of DNA Methyltransferase Activity Using Multifunctional Sandwich-Assembled Carbon Nitride Nanosheets. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2018, 10, 6887-6894.
- 100. Xu, Z.-H.; Wang, H.; Wang, J.; Zhao, W.; Xu, J.-J.; Chen, H.-Y. Bidirectional Electrochemiluminescent Sensing: An Application in Detecting miRNA-141. Anal. Chem. 2019, 91, 12000-12005.
- 101. Fan, Z.; Lin, Z.; Wang, Z.; Wang, J.; Xie, M.; Zhao, J.; Zhang, K.; Huang, W. Dual-Wavelength Electrochemiluminescence Ratiometric Biosensor for NF-κB p50 Detection with Dimethylthiodiaminoterephthalate Fluorophore and Self-Assembled

DNA Tetrahedron Nanostructures Probe. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2020, 12, 11409-11418.

- 102. Yin, H.; Sun, B.; Dong, L.; Li, B.; Zhou, Y.; Ai, S. A signal "on" photoelectrochemical biosensor for assay of protein kinase activity and its inhibitor based on graphite-like carbon nitride, Phos-tag and alkaline phosphatase. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* 2015, 64, 462-468.
- 103. Li, X.; Zhu, L.; Zhou, Y.; Yin, H.; Ai, S. Enhanced Photoelectrochemical Method for Sensitive Detection of Protein Kinase A Activity Using TiO₂/g-C₃N₄, PAMAM Dendrimer, and Alkaline Phosphatase. *Anal. Chem.* **2017**, *89*, 2369-2376.
- 104. Fan, D.; Guo, C.; Ma, H.; Zhao, D.; Li, Y.; Wu, D.; Wei, Q. Facile fabrication of an aptasensor for thrombin based on graphitic carbon nitride/TiO₂ with high visible-light photoelectrochemical activity. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2016**, *75*, 116-122.
- 105. Li, R.; Zhang, Y.; Tu, W.; Dai, Z. Photoelectrochemical Bioanalysis Platform for Cells Monitoring Based on Dual Signal Amplification Using in Situ Generation of Electron Acceptor Coupled with Heterojunction. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2017, 9, 22289-22297.
- 106. Gao, J.; Xiong, H.; Zhang, W.; Wang, Y.; Wang, H.; Wen, W.; Zhang, X.; Wang, S. Electrochemiluminescent aptasensor based on β-cyclodextrin/graphitic carbon nitride composite for highly selective and ultrasensitive assay of platelet derived growth factor BB. *Carbon* **2018**, *130*, 416-423.
- 107. Han, D.; Ni, D.; Zhou, Q.; Ji, J.; Lv, Y.; Shen, Y.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Harnessing Photoluminescent Properties of Carbon Nitride Nanosheets in a Hierarchical Matrix. *Adv. Funct. Mater.* **2019**, *29*, 1905576.
- 108. Gong, L.; Dai, H.; Zhang, S.; Lin, Y. Silver Iodide-Chitosan Nanotag Induced Biocatalytic Precipitation for Self-Enhanced Ultrasensitive Photocathodic Immunosensor. Anal. Chem. 2016, 88, 5775-5782.
- 109. Rong, M.; Lin, L.; Song, X.; Zhao, T.; Zhong, Y.; Yan, J.; Wang, Y.; Chen, X. A Label-Free Fluorescence Sensing Approach for Selective and Sensitive Detection of 2,4,6-Trinitrophenol (TNP) in Aqueous Solution Using Graphitic Carbon Nitride Nanosheets. *Anal. Chem.* **2014**, *87*, 1288-1296.
- 110. Liu, J.-W.; Wang, Y.-M.; Xu, L.; Duan, L.-Y.; Tang, H.; Yu, R.-Q.; Jiang, J.-H. Melanin-Like Nanoquencher on Graphitic Carbon Nitride Nanosheets for Tyrosinase Activity and Inhibitor Assay. *Anal. Chem.* **2016**, *88*, 8355-8358.
- 111. Wang, Q.; Wang, W.; Lei, J.; Xu, N.; Gao, F.; Ju, H. Fluorescence Quenching of Carbon Nitride Nanosheet through Its Interaction with DNA for Versatile Fluorescence Sensing. *Anal. Chem.* **2013**, *85*, 12182-12188.
- 112. Huang, H.; Chen, R.; Ma, J.; Yan, L.; Zhao, Y.; Wang, Y.; Zhang, W.; Fan, J.; Chen, X. Graphitic carbon nitride solid nanofilms for selective and recyclable sensing of Cu2+ and Ag+ in water and serum. *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 15415-15418.
- 113. Wang, Y.; Li, Y.; Ju, W.; Wang, J.; Yao, H.; Zhang, L.; Wang, J.; Li, Z. Molten salt synthesis of water-dispersible polymeric carbon nitride nanoseaweeds and their application as luminescent probes. *Carbon* **2016**, *102*, 477-486.
- 114. Guo, X.; Yue, G.; Huang, J.; Liu, C.; Zeng, Q.; Wang, L. Label-Free Simultaneous Analysis of Fe(III) and Ascorbic Acid Using Fluorescence Switching of Ultrathin Graphitic Carbon Nitride Nanosheets. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2018, 10, 26118-26127.

- 115. Xiang, M.-H.; Liu, J.-W.; Li, N.; Tang, H.; Yu, R.-Q.; Jiang, J.-H. A fluorescent graphitic carbon nitride nanosheet biosensor for highly sensitive, label-free detection of alkaline phosphatase. *Nanoscale* **2016**, *8*, 4727-4732.
- 116. Lee, E. Z.; Lee, S. U.; Heo, N.-S.; Stucky, G. D.; Jun, Y.-S.; Hong, W. H. A fluorescent sensor for selective detection of cyanide using mesoporous graphitic carbon(iv) nitride. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 3942.
- 117. Zhang, X.-L.; Zheng, C.; Guo, S.-S.; Li, J.; Yang, H.-H.; Chen, G. Turn-On Fluorescence Sensor for Intracellular Imaging of Glutathione Using g-C₃N₄ Nanosheet–MnO₂ Sandwich Nanocomposite. *Anal. Chem.* **2014**, *86*, 3426-3434.
- 118. Yu, Y.; Yang, Y.; Ding, J.; Meng, S.; Li, C.; Yin, X. Design of a Biocompatible and Ratiometric Fluorescent probe for the Capture, Detection, Release, and Reculture of Rare Number CTCs. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 13290-13298.
- 119. Ge, L.; Xu, Y.; Ding, L.; You, F.; Liu, Q.; Wang, K. Perovskite-type BiFeO₃/ultrathin graphite-like carbon nitride nanosheets p-n heterojunction: Boosted visible-light-driven photoelectrochemical activity for fabricating ampicillin aptasensor. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2019**, *124-125*, 33-39.
- 120. Yan, P.; Dong, J.; Mo, Z.; Xu, L.; Qian, J.; Xia, J.; Zhang, J.; Li, H. Enhanced photoelectrochemical sensing performance of graphitic carbon nitride by nitrogen vacancies engineering. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2020**, *148*, 111802.
- 121. Lv, S.; Li, Y.; Zhang, K.; Lin, Z.; Tang, D. Carbon Dots/g-C₃N₄ Nanoheterostructures-Based Signal-Generation Tags for Photoelectrochemical Immunoassay of Cancer Biomarkers Coupling with Copper Nanoclusters. ACS Appl. Mater.Interfaces 2017, 9, 38336-38343.
- 122. Feng, Q.-M.; Shen, Y.-Z.; Li, M.-X.; Zhang, Z.-L.; Zhao, W.; Xu, J.-J.; Chen, H.-Y. Dual-Wavelength Electrochemiluminescence Ratiometry Based on Resonance Energy Transfer between Au Nanoparticles Functionalized g-C₃N₄ Nanosheet and Ru(bpy)₃²⁺ for microRNA Detection. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *88*, 937-944.
- 123. Feng, Y.; Wang, Q.; Lei, J.; Ju, H. Electrochemiluminescent DNA sensing using carbon nitride nanosheets as emitter for loading of hemin labeled single-stranded DNA. *Biosens. Bioelectron.* **2015**, *73*, 7-12.
- 124. Chen, L.; Zeng, X.; Dandapat, A.; Chi, Y.; Kim, D. Installing Logic Gates in Permeability Controllable Polyelectrolyte-Carbon Nitride Films for Detecting Proteases and Nucleases. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 8851-8857.
- 125. Wang, X.; Qin, L.; Lin, M.; Xing, H.; Wei, H. Fluorescent Graphitic Carbon Nitride-Based Nanozymes with Peroxidase-Like Activities for Ratiometric Biosensing. *Anal. Chem.* 2019, *91*, 10648-10656.
- 126. Deng, W.; Peng, Y.; Yang, H.; Tan, Y.; Ma, M.; Xie, Q.; Chen, S. Ruthenium Ion-Complexed Carbon Nitride Nanosheets with Peroxidase-like Activity as a Ratiometric Fluorescence Probe for the Detection of Hydrogen Peroxide and Glucose. ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces 2019, 11, 29072-29077.
- 127. Zhu, J.; Nie, W.; Wang, Q.; Li, J.; Li, H.; Wen, W.; Bao, T.; Xiong, H.; Zhang, X.; Wang, S. In situ growth of copper oxide-graphite carbon nitride nanocomposites with peroxidase-mimicking activity for electrocatalytic and colorimetric detection of hydrogen peroxide. *Carbon* **2018**, *129*, 29-37.
- 128. Mane, G. P.; Talapaneni, S. N.; Lakhi, K. S.; Ilbeygi, H.; Ravon, U.; Al-Bahily, K.; Mori, T.; Park, D.-H.; Vinu, A. Highly Ordered Nitrogen-Rich Mesoporous Carbon Nitrides and Their Superior Performance for Sensing and Photocatalytic Hydrogen Generation. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 8481-8485.

- 129. Zhang, Y.; Zhou, Z.; Shen, Y.; Zhou, Q.; Wang, J.; Liu, A.; Liu, S.; Zhang, Y. Reversible Assembly of Graphitic Carbon Nitride 3D Network for Highly Selective Dyes Absorption and Regeneration. ACS Nano 2016, 10, 9036-9043.
- Li, L.; Deng, D.; Huang, S.; Song, H.; Xu, K.; Zhang, L.; Lv, Y. UV-Assisted Cataluminescent Sensor for Carbon Monoxide Based on Oxygen-Functionalized g-C₃N₄ Nanomaterials. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 9598-9605.
- 131. Zhang, Y.; Song, Y.; Shen, Y.; Chen, K.; Zhou, Q.; Lv, Y.; Yang, H.; Xu, E.; Liu, S.; Liu, L.; Zhang, Y. Water Molecule-Triggered Anisotropic Deformation of Carbon Nitride Nanoribbons Enabling Contactless Respiratory Inspection. CCS Chemistry 2020, 1615-1625.